THE IMPACT OF EARLY CARE AND EDUCATION PROGRAMS ON SCHOOL READINESS AND PARENTING IN LOW-INCOME FAMILIES

The mission of the Child Care Resource Center is to promote optimal child development and family well-being through access to quality child care, family support, economic development and community education.

October 2009



Quality · Support · Development · Education

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Child Care Resource Center would like to thank our funders including the California Community Foundation, the California Department of Education, the Administration for Children and Families, Los Angeles County Office of Education, First 5 California, and First 5 Los Angeles, without whose support, these programs would not exist. We would also like to thank CCRC's Board of Directors, Executive Team, Research Department and the staff and management of our program departments for their unwavering dedication to improving the lives of underserved children and families.

For more information regarding this and other projects, please contact: Dr. Susan Savage, Director of Research Child Care Resource Center 20001 Prairie Street Chatsworth, CA 91311 818.717.1040 ssavage@ccrcla.org www.ccrcla.org



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary	1
CCRC's Programs Increase School Readiness for Underserved Children and Increase Parent's	
Ability to Support Their Children's Readiness for Kindergarten, Sustaining Their Success in School	2
Enrichment	2
Family Child Care Home Education Network	2
Head Start	2
Mommy and Me	2
Parents as Teachers	2
School Readiness Skills and Parenting Skills Acquired in CCRC's Programs	3
Early Education and Parenting Programs	3
Methodology of Current Study	4
Increases in School Readiness for Underserved Children	5
Developmental Increases for Infants and Toddlers	5
Developmental Increases for Preschool-Age Children	10
Impact of CCRC's Parents As Teachers Home Visitation Program	15
Increases in School Readiness for Underserved Children as Reported by Parents	16
Increases in Parents' Ability to Support Children's School Readiness to Sustain Their Success in	
School	17
Appendix: Methodology	19
Infant / Toddler Developmental Assessments	20
Preschool Developmental Assessments	22



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The mission of the Child Care Resource Center (CCRC) is to promote optimal child development and family well-being through access to quality child care, family support, economic development and community education. CCRC offers a wide range of high quality programs that help children and parents attain the necessary skills that place them on a path for current and future success. Data were collected and summarized across a number of CCRC's early care and education programs to illustrate the impact on the following expected outcomes:

- 1) we will increase readiness for kindergarten in underserved children
- 2) we will increase parent's ability to support their children's readiness for kindergarten in order to sustain their success in school

The programs we evaluated against these two intended outcomes included our Parents as Teachers home visitation program and our Mommy and Me program where parents and children learn skills to enhance readiness for school, Enrichment and Family Child Care Home Education Network (subsidized child care combined with highly trained in-home child care providers), and our Head Start programs. 2,221 children and their parents participated in these programs and increased their school readiness and parenting skills.

Participation in CCRC's early care and education programs leads to:

- Statistically significant developmental gains in areas that prepare children ages 0-5 years for their future in school: self concept, social interpersonal skills, self regulation, language, learning, cognitive competence, math, literacy, motor skills, and safety / health.
- Significant gains in school readiness for children: 94.7% of parents reported increases in their children's readiness for kindergarten.
- Significant gains in parent's ability to support their children's readiness for kindergarten and sustain their success in school: 89.1% of parents increased their parenting skills.



CCRC'S PROGRAMS INCREASE SCHOOL READINESS FOR UNDERSERVED CHILDREN AND INCREASE PARENT'S ABILITY TO SUPPORT THEIR CHILDREN'S READINESS FOR KINDERGARTEN, SUSTAINING THEIR SUCCESS IN SCHOOL

The mission of the Child Care Resource Center (CCRC) is to promote optimal child development and family well-being through access to quality child care, family support, economic development and community education. CCRC offers a wide range of high quality programs that help children and parents attain the necessary skills that place them on a path for current and future success. Some of the programs offered by CCRC are briefly described below.

Enrichment CCRC's Enrichment program provides low-income children ages 0-5 years who have not previously had experiences in early care and education settings with 25 hours / week in high-quality, home-based programs. The providers participate in intensive in-home trainings as well as group trainings and support groups. The home environments are assessed using the FCCERS-R (Family Child Care Environmental Rating Scale-Revised) to ensure children are interacting in settings that promote age-appropriate development and school readiness.

Family Child Care Home Education Network CCRC's Family Child Care Home Education Network (FCCHEN) program is very similar to the Enrichment program described above with the exception that the amount of care is based on the need of the parent (part-time or full-time). CCRC also works closely with the parents in this program to discuss child assessments, engage in case management, and ensure the family receives all community services that are needed.

Head Start CCRC's Head Start program offers holistic and comprehensive services to low-income families. The child receives part-day center-based instruction and the family receives all needed services including medical, dental, mental health, nutritional, and intensive case management for all of their needs. Children who have been identified as having special needs are also supported within the regular classroom and their families are supported in navigating any system that is needed to ensure the child is able to reach their fullest potential.

Mommy and Me Families in CCRC's Mommy and Me program engage in 3-hour weekly sessions where parents learn vital parenting skills and activities that prepare children for kindergarten. Children ages 0-5 years interact with one another and with highly trained professionals in order to learn vital academic and social skills that successfully prepare them for kindergarten. These low-income families participate in this program on elementary school sites which helps ensure a smooth transition when their child begins kindergarten.

Parents as Teachers The families who participate in the Parents as Teachers (PAT) program are low-income and often find it challenging to attend programs outside of their home (no transportation, multiple young children, etc.). The highly skilled PAT educators bring vital trainings to these families in the comfort of their own home during monthly home visits. These educators engage the parents and children in activities that help their children ages 0-5 years learn skills needed to prepare them for kindergarten. These activities are simple and often consist of items commonly found in the home and yet foster age-appropriate development across various domains that ensure children become ready for school. Parents are also actively engaged in discussions regarding optimal parenting skills.



SCHOOL READINESS SKILLS AND PARENTING SKILLS ACQUIRED IN CCRC'S PROGRAMS

Early Education and Parenting Programs

Educational disparities start before kindergarten—low-income children are found disproportionately in less formal, less enriched settings, which have been found to yield lower school readiness and lower achievement throughout the school years.ⁱ Even within center-based ECE, low-income children are twice as likely as others to be in low-quality settings.ⁱⁱ

The results of the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study (ECLS-K) indicate that, among entering kindergartners:ⁱⁱⁱ

- Eighteen percent cannot demonstrate familiarity with the conventions of print: they do not know that English print is read from left to right and from top to bottom or where a story ends.
- Thirty-four percent cannot identify letters of the alphabet by name: they are not yet at the first level of reading proficiency.
- Forty-two percent cannot count 20 objects, read more difficult single-digit numerals, and judge the relative lengths of several rod-like objects; however, most of these pupils (36 percent of all children) can count 10 objects and read easier numerals.
- Six percent cannot count 10 objects and identify simple numerals and shapes: they are not yet at the first level of mathematics proficiency.

These statistics look even grimmer for children who are considered "at risk." Several family background characteristics have repeatedly been found to be associated with poor educational outcomes among school-aged children, such as low achievement test scores, grade repetition, suspension or expulsion, and dropping out of high school. These risk factors include having parents who have not completed high school,^{iv} coming from a low-income or welfare-dependent family,^v living in a single-parent family, ^{vi, vii, viii, ix} and having parents who speak a language other than English in the home.^{x, xi}

Children from families who have multiple risks seem to be most in danger of achievement difficulties. The greater the number of risk factors, the lower the vocabulary and mathematics test scores^{xii} and the lower the verbal IQ and social adjustment.^{xiii} Additionally, direct relationships exist between cumulative risk and the chances of grade repetition or school suspension^{xiv} and lower readiness skills upon kindergarten entry.^{xv}

Given the increasing focus on the need for school readiness, particularly for those considered "at risk" it has become apparent that support and intervention is needed for the community, schools, parents, and the children. In a recent study, it was found that parenting skills and preschool attendance predicted school readiness.^{xvi} There are many activities that parents undertake with young children that have a positive effect on their development and promote school readiness and these include reading with children, teaching them songs and nursery rhymes, playing with letters and numbers, and creating regular opportunities for them to play with their friends at home.^{xvii} Parents can provide such experiences regardless of their educational or occupational levels: what parents do with their children is more important than their educational and occupational background. These activities create a positive home learning environment, which research shows leads to positive outcomes throughout elementary school.^{xviii} These are the very activities that are promoted in our school readiness programs through PAT, Mommy & Me, Enrichment, FCCHEN, and Head Start. Studies showing positive effects of home learning environment regardless of parent background^{xix} is



evidence that when our low-income, often mono-lingual parents are given the tools to support their children's readiness for kindergarten, they will set their children on a path for long-term success in school.

In addition to home learning environment, high quality early educational experiences have enduring effects on educational attainment in English, Mathematics and Social / Behavioral outcomes in elementary school, particularly for boys, children with special educational needs, and disadvantaged children.^{xx} Additionally, Cannon and Karoly's ^{xxi} review of the rigorous evaluations of high-quality preschool programs demonstrates that serving children one or two years before kindergarten entry improves school readiness, raises performance on academic achievement tests in the early elementary grades, generates sustained effects on academic achievement into the middle-school years, and produces other education gains, such as reduced special-education use. These effects have been demonstrated for smaller-scale model programs, as well as for larger-scale, publicly funded programs currently operating in a number of states. Many of CCRC's programs offer high quality child development programs to children, preparing them for future success in school. Children in our Enrichment, Mommy & Me, FCCHEN, and Head Start programs experience high quality early educational environments where they begin to experience supportive, academic environments that prepare them for kindergarten.

Methodology of Current Study

To measure increases in school readiness in the children we serve we used the Desired-Results Developmental Profile-Revised (DRDP-R) and a parent report of their parenting skills and their children's school readiness. Please see the Appendix for specific measurement information on these tools.

Table A. Number of Children Served and Assessed	with the DRDP-R and Retrospectiv	e-
Pretest		

		Assessed with Retrospective-
Children Served	Assessed with DRDP-R	Pretest
TOTAL: 2,221	1168*	1,002**
		289 (28.8% English)
		713 (71.2% Spanish)
Head Start: 1459		
Parents as Teachers: 85		
Mommy and Me: 420		
Enrichment: 24		

Family Child Care Home Education Network: 233

* NOTE: Mommy and Me and Enrichment are not assessed using the DRDP-R; PAT uses a modified version for home-visitation; some children enroll late or drop early and do not receive 2 assessment points; some children move from the Infant/ Toddler to the Preschool version within the 6 month re-assessment window and therefore do not have 2 assessment points with the same tool.

** NOTE: This resulted in a 45.1% response rate.



INCREASES IN SCHOOL READINESS FOR UNDERSERVED CHILDREN

Developmental Increases for Infants and Toddlers

CCRC's infant/toddler programs lead to statistically significant developmental gains in areas that prepare children for their future in school: self concept, social interpersonal skills, self regulation, language, learning, cognitive competence, math, literacy, motor skills, and safety and health.

Areas of school readiness for young children show positive developmental growth in CCRC's FCCHEN program. Throughout their enrollment in the FCCHEN program children are assessed using the DRDP-R assessment tool for Infants and Toddlers on average every 6 months. One child was assessed at a 5-month interval, six were assessed at a 7-month interval and the remaining 21 children were assessed at a 6-month interval. The average age at the first assessment was 1.5 years (ranging from 2 months to 2 years 4 months) and the average age at the second assessment was 2 years (ranging from 8 months to 2 years 10 months).

Please see the Appendix for a listing of the specific areas of development that were measured. The Appendix also presents the Alpha Coefficient for each subscale of the DRDP-R. All are above .80, illustrating that each group of items measures the same underlying construct.

All areas of development increased significantly across the 6 month assessment period.

To evaluate and ensure positive developmental growth for infants and toddlers we conducted dependent-groups t-tests on all individual items as well as on all composites (groups of items that measure the same developmental construct). Twenty-eight (28) infants and toddlers were enrolled and assessed at 2 time points between September 2008 and August 2009. All areas of development increased significantly across the 6 month assessment period (p < .01).

All children showed an increase from pre- to posttest on the overall assessment average.

Another method of assessing growth is to consider percent change from the first to the second assessment for each individual child. All 28 children (100%) showed an increase from pre to posttest on the <u>overall</u> assessment average. Table B below communicates the percentage of children who increased in their development in each of the domains of interest. Although it may appear that children are not progressing in literacy, some children were very young at the first assessment (i.e., 2 months of age), resulting in little change in literacy knowledge and some of the older children who did not change were at the upper end of the developmental spectrum at the first assessment. Detailed review of each child's progression revealed that the children are where they would be expected for their age. Unfortunately, the DRDP-R does not have age norms and therefore we use expert opinion (program and research) on whether the children are where they should be for their age. The children in this program are enrolled until there is no longer a need in the family for child care and therefore, the developmental progression seen here will only continue to rise.



	Percent of Children
Developmental Domain	Increasing in Ability
Children are Personally and Socially Competent	100.0%
Self Concept	78.6%
Self Regulation	89.3%
Language	89.3%
Children are Effective Learners	100.0%
Cognitive	96.4%
Math	92.9%
Literacy	53.6%
Children Show Physical and Motor Competence	85.7%
Children are Safe and Healthy	78.6%

Table B. Percentage of Infants / Toddlers Increasing in Each Domain of the DRDP-R

Young children's healthy social and emotional development is critical to school readiness and positive long-term outcomes.^{xxii, xxiii}, ^{xxiv} The existence of early childhood behavior problems predicts well beyond the school years as well and is linked to social and mental functioning in adulthood.^{xxv,} ^{xxvii, xxvii, x}











In addition to socio-emotional development, a foundation in early math and literacy skills is important for setting children on the path to success in elementary school. In fact, research has shown that early math and literacy skills have been found to be related to academic performance in these areas in later grades.^{xxx, xxxi, xxxii} Figures 6 through 9 illustrate the developmental increases in learning, cognition, math, and literacy. Greater than 85% of children attained the top 3 developmental levels in Effective Learning, Cognitive Competence, Math, and Literacy by posttest.





Although much research has neglected to examine the impact of physical health and motor development in relation to school readiness, one study examined these factors in conjunction with cognitive and socio-emotional development. Results showed that a combination of below-average language and cognition skills with poor health or a lack of social skills at kindergarten entry predicted the lowest scores on math and reading at the end of first grade.^{xxxiii} This finding illustrates the importance of working to support the whole child prior to their entry into kindergarten. Figures 10 and 11 illustrate the developmental increases in physical / motor and health / safety. A vast majority of children attained the top the developmental levels by posttest in Physical and Motor Competence (89.2%) and Safe / Healthy behavior (92.8%).





Figure 10. Developmental Increases in "Children Show Physical and Motor Competence"

Figure 11. Developmental Increases in "Children are Safe and Healthy"





Developmental Increases for Preschool-Age Children

CCRC's pre-kindergarten programs lead to statistically significant developmental gains in areas that prepare children for their future in school: self concept, social interpersonal skills, self regulation, language, learning, cognitive competence, math, literacy, motor skills, and safety / health.

Areas of school readiness for young children show positive developmental growth in CCRC's Head Start and FCCHEN programs. Throughout their enrollment in the FCCHEN and Head Start programs children are assessed using the DRDP-R assessment tool for children age 3 years to kindergarten at a minimum of 6 month intervals (more frequently in Head Start). There were differences in ages at the initial assessment period for the two programs because Head Start has a greater number of 4-year-old children (Head Start Average: 4.13 years; FCCHEN Average: 3.88 years), p < .01. There were also differences in age at the final assessment point used in these analyses with Head Start children again being older (Head Start Average: 4.66 years; FCCHEN Average: 4.38 years), p < .01. Finally, the time between assessments was slightly greater in Head Start. We selected the very first and the very last assessment conducted for the year because these were most comparable to the FCCHEN group (Head Start: slightly over 6 months between assessments; FCCHEN: 6 months between assessments), $\underline{p} < .001$. For the combined groups, the average age at the initial assessment was 4 years, 1 month (ranging from 2 years, 6 months to 5 years, 7 months). For the combined groups, the average age at the final assessment used in these analyses was 4 years 7 months (ranging from slightly over 3 years to 6 years, 2 months). Finally, for the combined groups, the average time between assessments was slightly over 6 months (ranging from 2 months to 1 year, 3 months).

Please see the Appendix for a listing of the specific areas of development that were measured. The Appendix also presents the Alpha Coefficient for each subscale of the DRDP-R. All are above .80, illustrating that each group of items measures the same underlying construct.

All areas of development increased significantly across the 6 month assessment period.

One method used to evaluate and ensure positive developmental growth for pre-k children is to look at change by each area of development. We conducted dependent-groups t-tests on all individual items as well as all composites (groups of items that measure the same developmental construct). Over 1,100 (1,102) preschool children were enrolled and assessed at 2 time points between September 2008 and August 2009 in Head Start and FCCHEN. All areas of development increased significantly across the 6 month assessment period ($\underline{p} < .001$).

99.6% of the children showed an increase from pre- to posttest on the <u>overall</u> assessment average.

Another method of assessing growth is to consider percent change from the first to the second assessment for each child. Most of the children (99.6%) showed an increase from pre to posttest on the <u>overall</u> assessment average. Table C below communicates the percentage of children who increased in their development in each of the domains of interest.



	Percent of Children
Developmental Domain	Increasing in Ability
Children are Personally and Socially Competent	99.0%
Self Concept	94.6%
Social Interpersonal Skills	98.3%
Self Regulation	94.6%
Language	95.5%
Children Are Effective Learners	99.4%
Learning	93.3%
Cognitive Competence	97.1%
Math	98.5%
Literacy	98.5%
Children Show Physical and Motor Competence	94.9%
Children Are Safe and Healthy	94.5%

Table C. Percentage of Preschoolers Increasing in Each of the DRDP-R Domains

To further illustrate the growth achieved by the children in these programs, Figures 12 through 16 show developmental gains from pretest to posttest in the areas of personal and social competence, self concept, social interpersonal skills, self regulation, and language. In each of these domains, greater than 90% of children achieved the top 3 developmental levels by posttest.









Figures 17 through 21 illustrate the developmental increases in learning, cognition, math, and literacy. Greater than 90% of children reached the top 3 developmental levels in Learning and Cognition and greater than 85% of all children reached the top 3 developmental levels in Math and Literacy at posttest.









Figures 22 and 23 illustrate the developmental increases in physical / motor and health / safety. Greater than 95% of children achieve the top 3 developmental levels in Motor Skills and Safety / Health at posttest.



Figure 22. Developmental Increases in "Children Show Physical and Motor Competence"

Figure 23. Developmental Increases in "Children are Safe and Healthy"





Impact of CCRC's Parents As Teachers Home Visitation Program

CCRC's School Readiness program uses a truncated version of the Desired Results Developmental Profile (DRDP) to assess child progress in the PAT program because many of the items are not appropriate for a home visitation program. Comparison data for children who were 0 to 17 months during this program year is not available as the majority of these children were at ages that required a different tool at post-test. One drawback to use of the DRDP as a pre-post assessment measure is that there are different versions of this measure, and the measure used depends on the age of the child at the time of administration. Data used to evaluate progress toward the performance target are for children who were tested on the same measure at both time points.

Agency experience with trying to use the full DRDP for in-home programs found several items that were difficult to measure accurately with the instrument. Of the 21 themes in the DRDP, the following 11 themes were included in CCRC's truncated version: *Self Regulation, Language Comprehension, Language Expression, Interest in Learning, Cognitive Competence, Number Concepts, Measure, Order, and Time, Math Concepts, Reading Skills, Interest in Books, and Writing.*

The performance indicator for the DRDP child data was an increase in skills in academic/school readiness areas. There were 19 18-to-35-month old children with both pre and posttest data available within the same measurement tool and 16 (84.2%) showed an increase from pre to posttest on the overall assessment average. There were also 19 3-to-5-year old children with both pre and posttest data available within the same measurement tool and 15 (78.9%) showed an increase from pre to posttest on the overall assessment average. There were also 19 3-to-5-year old children with both pre and posttest data available within the same measurement tool and 15 (78.9%) showed an increase from pre to posttest on the overall assessment average. The areas of greatest growth included *Interest in Books and Other Written Materials, Cognitive Competence, Language Comprehension*, and *Math Concepts* for the 18-to-35 month old children. *Interest in Books, Number Concepts, Math Concepts*, and *Language Comprehension* were the areas of most growth for the 3-to-5 year old children.

Nine of the 11 developmental areas measured for the preschool age group (3-5 years) showed statistically significant growth at the end of the program year: *Self Regulation, Language Comprehension, Language Expression, Interest in Learning, Number Concepts, Measure, Order, and Time, Math Concepts, Reading Skills, Interest in Books and Other Written Materials, and Writing Skills. Cognitive Competence was the only theme that did not have statistically significant growth, but it should also be noted that this was the highest scored theme at both time points, averaging at 3.37 at pretest and 3.47 at posttest (approaching Fully Mastered).*

Ten of 11 developmental domains measured for toddlers showed statistically significant growth at the end of the program year: *Self Regulation, Language Comprehension, Language Expression, Interest in Learning, Number Concepts, Math Concepts, Reading Skills,* and *Interest in Books and Other Written Materials,* and Writing Skills. Self Regulation and Measure, Order, and Time were the only two themes that did not have statistically significant growth.

CCRC's infant / toddler and pre-kindergarten programs lead to statistically significant developmental gains in areas that prepare children for their future in school: self concept, social interpersonal skills, self regulation, language, learning, cognitive competence, math, literacy, motor skills, and safety / health.



INCREASES IN SCHOOL READINESS FOR UNDERSERVED CHILDREN AS REPORTED BY PARENTS

CCRC's programs lead to significant gains in school readiness for children: 94.7% of parents report increases in their children's readiness for kindergarten.

Parents from our Head Start, FCCHEN, Enrichment, PAT, and Mommy and Me programs completed the same instrument measuring school readiness in their child and measuring their own parenting skills. This measurement tool was a retrospective-pretest posttest asking parents to rate their children's school readiness interest and skills before and after the program in the following domains: *My child's interest in going to school, My child's interest in singing and dancing, My child's interest in books, My child's interest in the alphabet, My child's interest in art, My child's interest in numbers, My child's interest in learning, My child's readiness to start school, My child's ability to speak English, My child's vocabulary, My child's self-confidence, and My child's independence. For ease of presentation, the scores on these items were averaged to create one "School Readiness" score. Children's school readiness skills changed dramatically from before to after the program 92.10% were rated as ready (See Figure 24). Overall, 94.7% of children increased their level of school readiness skills from before to after their program 92.10% were rated as ready (See Figure 24). Overall, 94.7% of children increased their level of school readiness skills from before to after their participation in CCRC's school readiness programs.*

Figure 24. Change in School Readiness Skills from Before to After Program



Additionally, we tested to see if the increases in each of the school readiness domains were statistically significant by conducting dependent t-tests comparing the scores before and the scores after the program. All items as well as the overall *School Readiness* composite score showed statistically significant gains from before to after the program, p < .001.

In conclusion, CCRC's programs result in statistically significant increases in *School Readiness* skills in children in the areas of: interest in school, dancing, books, the alphabet, art, numbers, learning, school readiness, ability to speak English, vocabulary, self-confidence, and independence.

Parents remark on how CCRC's programs have impacted their children's readiness for school...

"The Head Start program has really helped my child to learn, speak, and to know how to communicate."

"To write his name. To wash his hands before going to the restroom. To brush his teeth."

"She has learned to use her words when upset. She has taken on responsibility for herself (her actions). She is now more ready to go to kindergarten."



"He talks with us about what he learned in the program that you helped us obtain. He now knows letters, numbers, and is more prepared for kinder."

"He is asking me a lot of questions and we talk a lot."

"My son's self confidence has increased very much. He knows more about school and understanding the English language."

INCREASES IN PARENTS' ABILITY TO SUPPORT CHILDREN'S SCHOOL READINESS TO SUSTAIN THEIR SUCCESS IN SCHOOL

CCRC's programs lead to significant gains in parent's ability to support their children's readiness for kindergarten and sustain their success in school: 89.1% of parents increased their parenting skills.

Early home learning environments where parents are knowledgeable about supporting their child's cognitive development are linked to children's English, Math, and Self-regulation 6 years later ^{xxxiv}. Parent participation in play activities with their children is important for their social and emotional development ^{xxxv}. Specifically, children who play at home and whose parents understand the importance of play in children's development demonstrate prosocial and independent behavior in the classroom ^{xxxvi}. Additionally, parent participation in activities such as arts and crafts is associated with children's literacy development ^{xxxvi}. These findings illustrate the importance of helping parents learn how to support their children's cognitive development prior to entering school, which is what many of our CCRC programs are designed to accomplish.

As with the assessment of school readiness, the measurement tool for parenting skills was a retrospective-pretest posttest asking parents to rate their ability before and after the program in the following domains: *My knowledge of how to help my child learn, The amount of time I spend playing with my child, The amount of time I spend reading to my child, My knowledge about how children grow and learn, My ability to handle concerns with my child, My comfort in talking to school staff or teachers about my child, My confidence in my parenting skills, My confidence that I can support my child's transition to Kindergarten, How often my child and I talk to each other, and My knowledge of community services and agencies. The scores on these items were averaged to form one "Parenting skills" score. Parenting skills changed dramatically from before to after the program 91.9% were rated as such (See Figure 25). Overall, 89.1% of parents increased their parenting skills from before to after the program.*







Additionally, we tested to see if the increases in each of the parenting domains were statistically significant by conducting dependent t-tests comparing the scores before and the scores after the program. All items as well as the overall *Parenting* composite score showed statistically significant gains from before to after the program, p < .001.

In conclusion, CCRC's programs result in statistically significant increases in Parenting Skills in the areas of: Knowledge of how to help their children, time playing with their children, knowledge of how to help them grow, ability to handle concerns, comfort in talking with teachers / providers, confidence in parenting, transitioning to kindergarten, frequency of talking with their child, knowledge of positive discipline techniques, knowledge of community services, and overall parenting skills.

Parents reflect on how CCRC's programs have impacted their parenting skills...

"To help us better understand the children's needs. To prepare them for elementary school."

"With the homework, I learned to share more time with my child and I learned how to teach him in a more positive way."

"I have received support at every level."

"I have learned how to play with him, how he learns while he has fun."

"With the preparation and knowledge that you have on how to educate children from their first years of life, now my son is more independent and has overcome many fears, he is more confident and more dynamic, he has an interest in learning."



APPENDIX: METHODOLOGY

Table 1 illustrates the breakdown of which measurement tool was utilized in each of our programs. The DRDP-R (Desired Results Developmental Profile-Revised) measures development across a number of domains and is currently available in 2 separate tools for children ages 0-5 years: one for Infant/ Toddler and one for 3 years – kindergarten. Our Parents as Teachers program uses a modified version of the DRDP (a former version of the DRDP-R) that is more appropriate for home visitation programs. Our Retrospective Pretest instrument asks parents to compare their children before and after the program on various dimensions of school readiness and also asks to compare themselves before and after the program on various dimensions of parenting skills.

Measure	Participant Group
DRDP-R (3 years-Kindergarten)	Head Start + FCCHEN Preschool Age
DRDP-R (Birth-36 Months)	FCCHEN Infants and Toddlers
DRDP-R (internally modified for Home	Parents As Teachers
Visitation)	
Retrospective Pretest (School Readiness &	
Parenting Skills)	Head Start
	FCCHEN
	Parents As Teachers
	Mommy & Me
	Enrichment

Table 1. Measurement Tools Used

To measure changes in school readiness due to participation in our programs, we asked parents' about their children's school readiness interest and skills before and after participating in the program by employing a retrospective-pretest posttest evaluation method. We measured this construct with the following items: *My child's interest in going to school, My child's interest in singing and dancing, My child's interest in books, My child's interest in the alphabet, My child's interest in art, My child's interest in numbers, My child's interest in learning, My child's readiness to start school, My child's ability to speak English, My child's vocabulary, My child's self-confidence, and My child's independence. Alpha coefficients are reported in Table 2 for these items before the program and after the program (Alpha is a statistic that measures how well a set of questions asks a central construct or theme and any value over .70 is considered acceptable). All Alphas show a good level of consistency (the questions are measuring the same construct of "School Readiness").*

To measure changes in parenting skills we asked parents to evaluate their parenting skills before and after the program on the following dimensions: *My knowledge of how to help my child learn, The amount of time I spend playing with my child, The amount of time I spend reading to my child, My knowledge about how children grow and learn, My ability to handle concerns with my child, My comfort in talking to school staff or teachers about my child, My confidence in my parenting skills, My confidence that I can support my child's transition to Kindergarten, How often my child and I talk to each other, and My knowledge of community services and agencies. Alpha coefficients for these items are reported in Table 2 for before and after the program. All Alphas show a good level of consistency (the questions are measuring the same construct of "Parenting."*



	Alpha for "Parenting"		Alpha for "School Readiness"	
Program Component	Pretest	Posttest	Pretest	Posttest
All programs combined	.94	.91	.92	.91
PAT	.91	.90	.90	.87
Mommy & Me	.96	.95	.94	.93
Enrichment	.97	.90	.93	.76
Head Start	.92	.89	.95	.92

Table 2. Alpha Coefficients for "Parenting" and "School Readiness" for All Programs

Infant / Toddler Developmental Assessments

To measure changes in school readiness of children ages 0-3 years we assessed children using the observational tool, the Desired Results Developmental Profile-Revised for Infants / Toddlers. These observations are conducted by highly trained observers in our Family Child Care Home Education Network (FCCHEN) program. The specific measures, indicators, and desired results of the Infant/ Toddler version of the DRDP-R that was used in our FCCHEN program are presented in Table 3. We conducted alpha statistics to ensure that each indicator and desired result has measures that are measuring the same underlying construct. Any Alpha statistic above a .70 is considered acceptable). All Alphas of the pretest and posttest of the DRDP-R show a good level of consistency (the questions are measuring the same construct of development [see Table 4]).

Table 5. Illiant and	Toudier DKDF-K Measu	res, mulcators, and Desired Results
Desired Result	Indicator	Measure
Children are Personally and Socially Competent		
	Self Concept	
		Identity of self and connection to others
		Recognition of ability
		Self expression
		Awareness of diversity
	Social Interpersonal S	skills
		Empathy
		Interactions with adults
		Relationships with familiar adults
		Relationships with familiar peers
		Interactions with peers
	Self Regulation	
		Impulse control
		Seeking other's help to regulate self
		Responsiveness to other's support
		Self comforting
		Attention maintenance
	Language	
		Language comprehension
		Responsiveness to language
		Communication of needs, feelings, and
		interests

Table 3. Infant and Toddler DRDP-R Measures, Indicators, and Desired Results



Reciprocal communication

Children are Effective Learners Cognitive

8	
	Memory
	Cause and effect
	Problem solving
	Symbolic play
	Curiosity
Math	·
	Number
	Space and size
	Time
	Classification and matching
Literacy	
	Interest in literacy
	Recognition of symbols
Children Show Physical and Motor Comp	petence
Motor Skills	
	Gross motor
	Fine motor
	Balance

Children are Safe and Healthy Safety and Health

Personal care routines Safety

Eye-hand coordination

Table 4. Alpha Coefficients for th	le Scales of the Infant /	Todaler DRDP-R	
Desired Result	Indicator	Pretest Alpha	Posttest Alpha
Children are Personally and		.99	.98
Socially Competent			
	Self Concept	.95	.93
	Social Interpersonal	.96	.92
	Skills		
	Self Regulation	.95	.93
	Language	.93	.92
Children are Effective Learners		.98	.97
	Cognitive	.97	.92
	Math	.96	.89
	Literacy	.89	.90
Children Show Physical and		.98	.95
Motor Competence			
Children are Safe and Healthy		.91	.84

Table 4. Alpha Coefficients for the Scales of the Infant / Toddler DRDP-R



Preschool Developmental Assessments

To measure changes in school readiness due to participation in our pre-K programs, we used the observational tool, the Desired Results Developmental Profile-Revised for Preschool for children ages 3 years to kindergarten. These observations are conducted by highly trained observers in our Family Child Care Home Education Network (FCCHEN) program and by our highly trained teachers in our Head Start program. The specific measures, indicators, and desired results of the preschool version of the DRDP-R that was used in our FCCHEN and Head Start programs are presented in Table 5. We conducted alpha statistics to ensure that each indicator and desired result has measures that are measuring the same underlying construct. Any Alpha statistic above a .70 is considered acceptable). All Alphas of the pretest and posttest of the DRDP-R show a good level of consistency (the questions are measuring the same construct of development (see Table 6)).

Desired Result	Indicator	Measure
Children are Personally and Socially Competent		
	Self Concept	
		Identity of self and connection to others
		Recognition of own skills and accomplishments
	Social Interpersonal S	kills
		Expressions of empathy
		Building cooperative relationships with adults
		Developing friendships
		Building cooperative play with other children
		Conflict negotiation
		Awareness of diversity in self and others
	Self Regulation	
		Impulse control
		Taking turns
		Shared use of space and materials
	Language	
	0 0	Comprehends meaning
		Follows increasingly complex instructions
		Expresses self through language
		Uses language in conversation
Children are Effective	e Learners	
	Learning	
		Curiosity and initiative
		Engagement and persistence
	Cognitive Competence	e
		Memory and knowledge
		Cause and effect
		Engages in problem solving
		Socio-dramatic play

Table 5. Preschool DRDP-R Measures, Indicators, and Desired Results



Math	
	Number sense: understands quantity and
	counting
	Number sense: math operations
	Shapes
	Time
	Classification
	Measurement
	Patterning
Literacy	
	Interest in literacy
	Letter and word knowledge
	Emerging writing
	Concepts of print
	Phonological awareness
Children Show Physical and Motor Competen	ce
Motor Skills	
	Gross motor movement
	Fine motor skills
	Balance
Children are Safe and Healthy	
Safety and Health	
	Personal care routines
	Personal safety

Desired Result	Indicator	Pretest Alpha	Posttest Alpha
Children are Personally and		.97	.97
Socially Competent			
	Self Concept	.88	.88
	Social Interpersonal	.94	.94
	Skills		
	Self Regulation	.93	.92
	Language	.94	.94
	English Language	.95	.92
	Learner		
Children are Effective Learners		.97	.98
	Learning	.87	.87
	Cognitive	.91	.91
	Competence		
	Math	.94	.95
	Literacy	.91	.92
Children Show Physical and		.89	.87
Motor Competence			
Children are Safe and Healthy		.92	.91

Understanding healthy lifestyle

Table 6. Alpha Coefficients for the Scales of the Preschool DRDP-R



Endnote Citations

ⁱ Brandon, R.N. (2005). "Enhancing Family Friend and Neighbor Caregiving Quality: The Research Case for Public Engagement." Paper Prepared for the American Public Human Services Association and Child Trends. Human Services Policy Center: Seattle, WA. <u>http://www.hspc.org/publications/pdf/APHSApaper05.RRF.pdf</u>

ⁱⁱ Mulligan, G. & Flanagan, K., (2006) "Age 2: Findings from the 2-year old follow-up of the early childhood longitudinal study, birth cohort (ECLS-B). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics (NCES 2006-043)

ⁱⁱⁱ U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, *Entering Kindergarten: A Portrait of American Children When They Begin School: Findings from The Condition of Education 2000*, Nicholas Zill and Jerry West, NCES 2001– 035, Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, 2001.

^{iv} Zill, N. 1996b. "Parental schooling and children's health." *Public Health Reports* 111:34–43.

^v Zill, N. 1996a. "Family change and student achievement: What we have learned, what it means for schools." In *Family-school links: How do they affect educational outcomes?*, edited by Alan Booth and Judith P. Dunn. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

^{vi} Dawson, D. 1991. "Family structure and children's health and well-being: Data from the 1988 National Health Interview Survey on Child Health." *Journal of Marriage and the Family* 53(August):573–84.

^{vii} Entwisle, D.R., and Alexander, K.L. 1995. "A parent's economic shadow: Family structure versus family resources as influences on early school achievement." *Journal of Marriage and the Family* 57:399–409.

^{viii} McLanahan, S.S., and Sandefur, G. 1994. *Growing up with a single parent: What hurts, what helps?* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

^{ix} Zill, N. 1996b

^x Kao, G. 1999. "Psychological well-being and educational achievement among immigrant youth." In *Children of immigrants: Health, adjustment, and public assistance*, edited by D.J. Hernandez. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.

^{xi} Rumberger, R.W., and Larson, K.A. 1998. "Toward explaining differences in educational achievement among Mexican American language-minority students." *Sociology of Education* 71(January):69–93.

^{xii} Nord, C.W., Zill, N., Prince, C., Clarke, S., and Ventura, S. 1994. "Developing an index of educational risk from health and social characteristics known at birth." *Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine* 71(2):167–87.

^{xiii}Sameroff, A., Seifer, R., Barocas, R., Zax, M., and Greenspan, S. 1987. "Intelligence quotient scores of 4-year old children: Socio-environmental risk factors." *Pediatrics* 79:343–50.

xiv Nord et al., 1994

^{xv} U.S. Department of Education, 2001

^{xvi} Kiernan, J. et al. (2008). The school readiness of children living in a disadvantaged area in Ireland. Journal of Early Childhood Research, 6 (2), 119-144.

^{xvii} Sylva, K., Melhuish, E., Sammons, P., Siraj-Blatchford, I., and Taggart, B. (2004). The Effective Provision of Pre-School Education (EPPE) Project: Technical Paper 12 – The final report. London: DfES / Institute of Education, University of London.

^{xviii} Sammons, P., Sylva, K., Mehuish, E., Siraj-Blatchford, I., Taggart, B., Hunt, S., Jelicic, H. (2008). Effectiveness Pre-School and Primary Education 3-11 Project (EPPE 3-11): Influences on Children's Cognitive and Social Development in Year 6. Department for Children, Schools and Families. DCSF-RB048-049.

http://www.dcsf.gov.uk/research/data/uploadfiles/DCSF-RB048-049.pdf

^{xix} Sammons et al., 2008

^{xx} Sammons et al., 2008

^{xxi} Cannon, J. S., and Karoly, L. A. (2007). Who Is Ahead and Who Is Behind? Gaps in School Readiness and Student Achievement in the Early Grades for California's Children, Santa Monica, Calif.: RAND Corporation, TR-537-

PF/WKKF/PEW/NIEER/WCJVSF/LAUP, 2007. http://www.rand.org/pubs/technical_reports/TR537/

xxii National Research Council & Institute of Medicine. (2000). From neurons to neighborhoods: The science of early childhood development. J. P. Shonkoff & D. A. Phillips (Eds.). Washington, DC: National Academies Press.

^{xxiii} Raver, C. C., & Knitzer, J. (2002). Ready to enter: What research tells policymakers about strategies to promote social and emotional school readiness among three- and four-year-old children. New York: National Center for Children in Poverty, Columbia University Mailman School of Public Health.

xxiv Thompson, R. A. & Raikes, H. A. (2007). The social and emotional foundations of school readiness. In D. Perry, R. Kaufmann, & J. Knitzer (Eds.), *Social & emotional health in early childhood*. (pp.13-35). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes.



^{xxv} Bor, W., Sanders, M., & Markie-Dadds, C. (2002). The effects of triple P – positive parenting program on preschool children with co-occuring disruptive behaviour and attentional/hyperactive difficulties. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 30 (6), 571-587.

xxvi Farrington, D., & Coid, J. (Eds) (2003). *Early prevention of adult antisocial behaviour*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

xxvii Moffitt, T. (1993). "Life-course-persistent" and "adolescence-limited" antisocial behaviour: A developmental taxonomy. *Psychological Review*, 100, 674-701.

xxviii Stewart-Brown, S. (2000). Parenting, well-being, health and disease. In A.Buchanan & B.Hudson (Eds.), *Promoting children's emotional well-being* (pp. 28-47). New York: Oxford University Press.

^{xxix} Webster-Stratton, C., Reid, M., & Hammond, M. (2001). Preventing conduct problems, promoting social competence: A parent and teacher training partnership in Head Start.Journal of Clinical Child Psychology, 30 (3), 283-302.

xxx Duncan, G. J., et al. (2007). School Readiness and later achievement. *Developmental Psychology, 43* (6), 1428–1446. xxxi La Paro, K. M., & Pianta, R. C. (2000). Predicting children's competence in the early school years. A meta analytic review. *Review of Educational Research, 70,* 443–484.

xxxii Stevenson, H. W., & Newman, R. S. (1986). Long-term prediction of achievement and attitudes in mathematics and reading. *Child Development*, *57*, 646–659.

xxxiii Hair, E., Halle, T., Terry-Humen, E., Lavelle, B., Calkins, J. (2006). Children's school readiness in the ECLS-K: Predictions to academic, health, and social outcomes in first grade. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 21*, 431-454. xxxiv Sammons et al., 2008

xxxv Paley, V. G. (2004). *A child's work: The importance of fantasy play.* Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press. xxxvi Fantuzzo, J., & McWayne, C. (2002). The relationship between peer-play interactions in the family context and dimensions of school readiness for low-income preschool children. *Journal of Educational Psychology, 94* (1), 79 87.

xxxvii Nord, C.W., Lennon, J., Liu, B., & Chandler, K. (1999). *Home literacy activities and signs of children's emerging literacy, 1993 and 1999* (NCES Publication No. 2000-026). Washington DC: National Center for Education Statistics, US Department of Education, Office of Educational Research and Improvement. Available at

http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubinfo.asp?pubid=2000026

